THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000998
Civil Action No. 2015-CP-43-596

RECEIVED

NOV 07 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Paul Branco and Branco Investments,
Inc., d/b/a Great American Cookie Co., Respondents,

v.

Hull Storey Retail Group, LLC, and
Sumter Mall, LLC Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Timothy E. Madden
Miles E. Coleman
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH, LLP
Post Office Box 10084
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 250-2300

Matthew W. Matson
1190 Interstate Parkway
Augusta, GA 30909
(706) 434-1743

Attorneys for Appellants

INTRODUCTION

This appeal raises a simple question of law: can one be liable for tortious interference with contract when there is no valid contract with which to interfere? Plaintiffs Paul Branco and Branco Investments, Inc. allege Sumter Mall, LLC and Hull Storey Retail Group, LLC tortiously interfered with Branco Investments' contract with a third party for the sale of certain equipment and assets. The supposed contract, however, was only a proposed purchase agreement that was expressly made contingent on the satisfaction of certain conditions. Those contingencies were never satisfied, and thus there was no valid contract with which Sumter Mall and Hull Storey could interfere. Accordingly, they cannot, as a matter of law, be liable for tortious interference with contract.

Alternatively, even assuming, *arguendo*, that the proposed purchase agreement was a valid and enforceable contract, Sumter Mall's and Hull Storey's allegedly wrongful conduct—namely, attempting to negotiate lease terms to increase the revenue they generated from a property they owned and managed—was a justifiable assertion of their right, and thus cannot constitute a tortious interference with contract.

Furthermore, the damages amount awarded by the trial court was not supported by competent evidence but, rather, was based solely on Paul Branco's admittedly unsupported, wholly subjective, and speculative conjectures about what the assets at issue were worth to him. Indeed, *any* award of damages was improper because the party who purported to enter the supposed "contract"—Branco Investments, Inc.—was, at the time of the transaction and at the time it filed this lawsuit, in forfeiture of its corporate status and thus lacking the legal ability to enter the transaction or bring suit. Finally, even assuming there was a contract, interference, and a compensable injury (all of which are assumptions that, as explained below, are contrary to law and/or the facts of this case), the trial court erred by awarding damages to Paul Branco, who was not a party to the purportedly breached "contract" on which the trial court's award of damages was based.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by ruling Hull Storey was liable for tortious interference with contract when plaintiffs Paul Branco and Branco Investments, Inc. failed to demonstrate the existence of a valid and enforceable contract and thus failed to satisfy their burden of establishing an essential element of the claim?
2. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that a valid contract existed, did the trial court err by ruling Hull Storey's actions relating to that contract were unjustified?
3. Did the trial court err by awarding damages in an amount unsupported by any competent evidence but, rather, based solely on Plaintiffs' unsupported, subjective, and speculative assertions?
4. Did the trial court err by awarding damages arising from a purported contract that was entered by a then-dissolved corporation that lacked the capacity to transact, or by awarding damages to Paul Branco individually, when he was not a party to the purported contract?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs Paul Branco and Branco Investments, Inc. filed this lawsuit on March 5, 2015, asserting causes of action for (i) Breach of Contract with Fraudulent Intent, (ii) Tortious Interference with a Contract, (iii) Fraud, and (iv) Constructive Fraud. *See* Compl. (R. 17–26). Sumter Mall, LLC filed its Answer on April 14, 2015, denying the allegations of wrongdoing, asserting two counterclaims, and asserting eight affirmative defenses, including the Statute of Frauds. *See* Answer of Sumter Mall (R. 27–33). Hull Storey Retail Group, LLC likewise filed its Answer on April 14, 2015, denying the allegations of wrongdoing and asserting ten affirmative defenses, including the Statute of Frauds. *See* Answer of Hull Storey (R. 34–38).

Hull Storey filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings on September 27, 2016. *See* Mot. for J. (R. 39–45). Judge Cooper conducted a hearing on the motion on November 28, 2016, and, on December 15, 2016, denied the motion. *See* Tr. of Nov. 28, 2016 hearing (R. 54–69); Order Denying Mot. for J. (R. 16). Plaintiffs' claims were tried in a bench trial before Judge Cothran on

February 28, 2017. *See* Trial Tr. at 1–220 (R. 70–288). At the conclusion of the bench trial, Judge Cothran took the matter under advisement.

A few weeks later, the trial court emailed to the parties’ counsel a draft of the order the court intended to file. In response, on March 21, 2017, Hull Storey filed a Motion to Amend. *See* Mot. to Amend (R. 46–53). Two days later, the trial court filed its order, which was substantively identical to the draft it had previously circulated. *See* Order of J. (R. 10–15). The Order ruled in Plaintiffs’ favor on the claim for tortious interference with a contract, ruled in Defendants’ favor on the other causes of action, and ruled in Plaintiffs’ favor on Hull Storey’s counterclaims. *See id.* at 4–5 (R. 13–14). Notably, the trial court awarded judgment for Paul Branco individually. *See* Order of J. at 1, 3, and 5 (R. 10, 12, and 14) (awarding judgment and \$63,625 in damages to “the plaintiff,” which the Order defined as “Paul Branco”);¹ *see also* Circuit Court docket entry (R. 387) (noting judgment was awarded for “Branco, Paul”).

The trial court did not schedule a hearing on the Motion to Amend, nor did it express any indication of whether and when it might set a hearing or rule on the motion. Accordingly, out of an abundance of caution Hull Storey timely filed its Notice of Appeal on April 21, 2017. Hull Storey subsequently moved this Court to remand the case, without prejudice to refile the appeal, to allow the trial court to consider and rule upon the pending post-trial motion. On August 28, 2017, this Court granted the motion.

¹ The trial court arrived at this damages amount by taking \$70,000 (the revenue Branco allegedly lost as a result of the disruption of the supposed contract with Brooktenn) and reducing it by \$5,000 (which Branco recouped by selling to another entity some of the equipment that Brooktenn proposed to buy) and reducing the remaining amount by \$1,375 for the 15 days post-lease expiration during which Hull Storey and Sumter Mall allowed Branco to remain in the store without paying rent. *See* Order of J. at pp. 3 and 5 (R. 12 and 14).

Judge Cothran held a hearing on the post-trial motion on February 9, 2018, and filed an Amended Order of Judgement on March 2, 2018. *See* Hearing Tr. at 1–29 (R. 290–318); Amend. Order of J. (R. 1–9). The Amended Order reached the same outcome as the trial court’s earlier Order of Judgment, but included a slightly lengthier analysis of the claim for tortious interference with contract. As with the earlier Order, the trial court awarded judgment and damages to Paul Branco individually. *See* Amend. Order of J. at 1, 4, and 7 (R. 1, 4, and 7) (awarding judgment and damages to “the plaintiff,” which the Order defined as “Paul Branco”); *see also id.* at 7 (R. 7) (stating that as a result of Hull Storey’s supposed interference, “*Branco* lost the opportunity to sell his assets) (emphasis added). Hull Storey timely filed its Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Sumter Mall, LLC owns the Sumter Mall, a retail shopping mall in Sumter, South Carolina. *See* Complaint at ¶ 3 (R. 21). Hull Storey Retail Group, LLC manages the mall on behalf of Sumter Mall, LLC. *See id.* at ¶¶ 2 and 4 (R. 3); Trial Tr. at 9:8–15 (R. 78). Both Sumter Mall and Hull Storey are Georgia Limited Liability Companies authorized to conduct business in South Carolina. *See* Answer at ¶¶ 2–3 (R. 28). This appeal arises from the lease of a storefront in the Sumter Mall.

I. The Brancos’ 2002 lease, and their efforts in 2012–13 to renew or transfer the lease.

On or about December 30, 2002, Paul Branco and Annie Branco entered into a lease with Sumter Mall, LLC to operate a Great American Cookie (“GAC”) franchise store and a Pretzel Time store in Unit 55 of the Sumter Mall. *See* Trial Tr. at 10:25 to 11:1–8 and 12:23–25 (R. 79–81); Pl.’s Trial Ex. 1 at p.1 (R. 321). The lease term was for ten years. *See* Trial Tr. 12:10–14 and 14:16–21 (R. 81 and 83); Pl.’s Trial Ex. 1 at p.1 (R. 321). Initially, the lease was to expire on April 30, 2013. *See* Trial Tr. 15:3–5 (R. 84). On April 30, 2013, Appellants extended

the Brancos' lease term to May 15, 2013. *See* Trial Tr. 189:14–23 (R. 258); Pl.'s Trial Ex. 8 (R. 366). The Brancos operated the GAC store in Unit 55 of the Sumter Mall from December 30, 2002 until May 15, 2013. *See* Amend. Order at 1 (R. 1). The Brancos also operated a second GAC store at the Magnolia Mall in Florence, South Carolina. *See* Trial Tr. 8:22–24 (R. 87).

In September of 2012, as the end of the Brancos' lease term drew near, Paul Branco engaged in discussions with Hull Storey's leasing representative, Lewis White,² regarding the potential renewal or extension of the lease of Unit 55 in the Sumter Mall. *See* Trial Tr. at 118:10–20, 119:23–25, 120:1–15, 121:12–17, 177:11–13, and 177:18–20 (R. 187–90 and 246); Pl.'s Trial Ex. 2 at pp. 1–2 (R. 347–48). Branco and White's preliminary discussions envisioned Branco's daughter taking over the lease of Unit 55 to operate a GAC store in the Sumter Mall. *See* Trial Tr. at 16:12–16 (R. 85); *id.* at 120:20–21 (R. 189). White indicated Hull Storey would be agreeable to this idea so long as Branco signed as a guarantor of his daughter's proposed lease. *Id.* at 20:1–15 (R. 89); Pl.'s Trial Ex. 3 at p. 1 (R. 357); Amend. Order of J. at 1–2 (R. 1–2). Although Hull Storey's proposal provided Branco's daughter with an opportunity to continue the family business by assuming occupancy and operating a GAC store in Unit 55 of the Sumter Mall, Branco rejected the idea because it was "critical" to him that he not act as a guarantor for his daughter. *See* Trial Tr. at 20:10–11 (R. 89); Amend. Order of J. at 2 (R. 2).

² White is a leasing representative for Hull Storey and had been so employed for approximately five-and-a-half years at the time of trial of this matter. *See* Trial Tr. at 175:14–19 (R. 244). White's responsibilities, as a leasing representative for Hull Storey, included leasing available spaces in shopping centers and malls and negotiating terms of leases, renewals, and assignments with tenants. *Id.* at 176:14–24 (R. 245). In September of 2012, White's duties included marketing available space within the Sumter Mall. *Id.* at 177: 2–5 (R. 246).

Branco continued in conversation and negotiations with White regarding a lease renewal. *See* Trial Tr. at 178:10–13 (R. 247). In September of 2012, White forwarded Branco a proposal for a five-year lease. *Id.* at 178:17–24 (R. 247). Negotiations were still ongoing in November of 2012, *see id.* at 179:8–24 (R. 248); Pl.’s Trial Ex. 2 at p. 2 (R. 348), and discussions about a lease renewal continued into 2013. *See* Trial Tr. at 180:9–20 (R. 249) (noting that on January 31, 2013, White and Branco were still negotiating a lease renewal of Unit 55 of the Sumter Mall, and that on that date, White provided Branco a lease renewal spreadsheet for GAC); *see also* Pl.’s Trial Ex. 2 at p. 9 (R. 355).

By early 2013, White was also contemplating marketing Unit 55 to other potential tenants. *See* Trial Tr. at 180:25 and 181:1–3 (R. 249–50). And although White and Branco appeared to be close to reaching an agreement on terms that Hull Storey’s real estate committee had authorized, White testified the parties did not have a “legal document or lease amendment memorializing the terms.” *Id.* at 180:1–3 (R. 249).

II. Branco Investments, LLC’s negotiation and execution of a contingent Proposal for Purchase with Brooktenn, LLC.

Meanwhile, unbeknownst to White and Hull Storey, in January 2013, Mr. Branco—on behalf of Branco Investments, LLC, which owned the equipment and other assets in the GAC stores in the Sumter and Florence malls—was engaged in discussions with Brooktenn, LLC (“Brooktenn”), a Georgia Limited Liability Company owned by Stewart Applebaum, about a possible transaction wherein Brooktenn would purchase Branco Investment’s assets located in the Florence and Sumter GAC stores. *Id.* at 20:24–21:16 (R. 89–90); *see also id.* at 180:14–20, 182:4–6, and 183:15–24 (R. 249, 251, and 252) (noting that as of January 31, 2013, Hull Storey was still negotiating with Branco and planning on him renewing the lease, and that

Branco had not yet informed Hull Storey he was negotiating with a third party to take over the store).

Although Branco was simultaneously negotiating a lease renewal with Hull Storey and a possible sale to Applebaum, neither Branco nor Applebaum disclosed to Hull Storey that Brooktenn intended to operate the store in the Sumter Mall. *See id.* at 105:7–11, 180:14–20, 182:4–6, and 183:15–24 (R. 174, 249, 251, and 252). Indeed, Branco deliberately refrained from informing White until sometime late in the first quarter of 2013 that Branco was in discussions with another operator about possibly taking over the space. *Id.* at 105:7–11 and 183:14–24 (R. 174 and 252). At that time, Branco informed White that the new operator would be another Great American Cookie franchise operator named Stewart Applebaum. *Id.* at 184:10–13 (R. 253). White testified that based on the limited information Branco gave him, and based on Branco’s strategy of simultaneously negotiating a lease renewal and a potential sale of the franchise, Hull Storey’s understanding was that the potential new GAC operator would come in via a lease assignment in the future. *Id.* at 186:20–187:6 (R. 255–56).

On March 1, 2013, Branco Investments and Brooktenn entered into a conditional agreement—titled a “Proposal for Purchase”—whereby Brooktenn would purchase the equipment and other assets owned by Branco Investments and located in the GAC stores in the Sumter and Florence malls. *See Trial Tr.* at 20:24–25, 21:1–2, 21:21–25, 22:1–5, 22:22–25, and 23:1–8 (R. 89–92); *Pl.’s Trial Ex. 4* (R. 359). The proposed agreement was expressly conditioned upon Brooktenn obtaining a satisfactory lease from Hull Storey for the Sumter Mall within 90 days after the proposed agreement was signed. *See Pl.’s Trial Ex. 4* (R. 359)

("This proposal is contingent upon Buyers getting a satisfactory lease from Hull Storey Gibson within 90 days of signed proposal.");³ *see also* Trial Tr. at 27:1–8 (R. 96).

The proposed purchase agreement indicates Branco and Applebaum understood and expected that Branco Investments and Brooktenn would be required to pay Hull Storey a transfer fee in order to transfer the operations of the GAC stores to Brooktenn and to allow Brooktenn to occupy the Sumter Mall. *See* Pl.'s Trial Ex. 4 (R. 359) (listing a line item for a "Mall Transfer Fee.....to be split 50/50 with seller (not to exceed \$2,500 for Seller)"); Trial Tr. at 24–25 and 92–95 (R. 93–94 and 161–64).⁴

III. Hull Storey's understanding of and response to the Proposal for Purchase.

As noted above, based on the limited information Branco disclosed to White about the potential sale to Brooktenn, and based on the fact that Branco continued negotiating a lease renewal even *after* disclosing that information to White, Hull Storey determined the proposed transaction between Branco Investments and Brooktenn contemplating Brooktenn's occupancy and operation of the GAC store in the Sumter Mall would be an assignment of Branco's lease of that space. *See* Trial Tr. at 185:3–187:6 and 190:13–25 (R. 254–56 and 259); *see also id.* at 104:20–106:19 (R. 173–75) (Applebaum admitting that months prior to Hull Storey's awareness of Applebaum's involvement, while Mr. Branco was negotiating his lease renewal with Hull Storey, Mr. Branco had shared with Applebaum the lease renewal proposal he planned to send Hull Storey and asked Applebaum to review and provide feedback on it).

³ The Proposal is also expressly conditioned on Brooktenn obtaining a lease from the lessor of the Florence Mall within 90 days. *See* Pl.'s Trial Ex. 4 (R. 359) ("This proposal is contingent upon Buyers getting a satisfactory lease from PREIT within 90 days of signed proposal."). Applebaum admitted Brooktenn never obtained or sought to obtain lease approval in Florence. *See* Trial Tr. at 96:5–7, 96:23–25, 99:5–7 (R. 165 and 167).

⁴ The Proposal for Purchase likewise contemplates a transfer fee to be paid to the franchisor. *See* Pl.'s Trial Ex. 4 (R. 359) ("GFG Transfer Fee....to be paid for by Seller").

Shortly after learning of the proposed transaction, White sought more information from Branco about it. *See id.* at 185:3–186:19 (R. 254–55); Pl.’s Trial Ex. 7 (R. 365) (March 25, 2013 email from White asking Branco for information regarding the proposed store transfer to Brooktenn). In response, Branco informed White that the Proposal for Purchase offered to sell the Sumter Mall store to Brooktenn for \$70,000.00, of which \$45,000 was for Branco’s interest in the leasehold, and the \$25,000.00 balance was for Branco Investment’s equipment and inventory. *See* Trial Tr. at 198:4–9 (R. 267).⁵ Not surprisingly then, Hull Storey believed the proposed transaction amounted to Branco selling the leasehold interest to Brooktenn. *See id.* at 192:2–11 (R. 261). Accordingly, Hull Storey informed both Branco and Applebaum that it viewed the proposed arrangement between Branco Investments and Brooktenn as a lease assignment requiring either Branco or Brooktenn to make a payment to Hull Storey pursuant to section 16.2 of the lease. *Id.* at 86:24–87:7, 87:25–88:9, and 192:2–8 (R. 155–57 and 261).

In keeping with this view, on April 30, 2013, White emailed Branco and Applebaum extending Branco’s lease until May 15, 2015 and attaching a draft assignment and assumption of the subject lease. *Id.* at 46:6–13, 51:2–9, and 189:10–23 (R. 115, 120, and 258); Pl.’s Trial Ex. 8 at p.1 (R. 366). Neither Branco, Applebaum or Brooktenn executed the draft lease assignment agreement provided by White.⁶ *See* Trial Tr. at 190:16–17 (R. 259). Furthermore,

⁵ The Proposal for Purchase proposed a \$100,000 purchase price for both stores, allocating \$70,000 to the sale of the Sumter Mall store and its equipment and inventory, and allocation \$30,000 to the sale of the Florence Mall store and its equipment and inventory. *See* Pl.’s Trial Ex. 4 (R. 359). At trial, Branco effectively conceded this allocation was an arbitrary way of dividing up the total amount without any real rhyme or reason. *See* Trial Tr. at 127:16–25 and 166:3–10 (R. 196 and 235).

⁶ A review of the record confirms that this draft “Assignment, Assumption, Amendment and Ratification of Lease Agreement,” which was admitted into evidence in the trial of this matter as Plaintiff’s Exhibit 8, is the only written document drafted between Sumter Mall, LLC and Brooktenn, and no other written document purporting to be a lease between Hull Storey or Sumter Mall, LLC and Brooktenn has been proffered at any time.

Brooktenn never executed a lease with Sumter Mall and/or Hull Storey. *See* Amend. Order of J. at 2 (R. 2) (noting that a “lease agreement between Hull Storey and Brooktenn was never executed”).

The draft assignment and assumption that White sent to Branco and Applebaum was not as demanding as Hull Storey could have been under the terms of Branco’s existing lease. Specifically, section 16.2 of the Brancos’ lease that was then in force states that the *entirety* of any lease assignment fees received by the Brancos is payable to Landlord. *See* Pl.’s Trial Ex. 1 at § 16.1 (R. 330). Here, the Proposal for Purchase contemplated a transaction for \$70,000.00, of which Branco told White \$45,000 was for the leasehold interest. *See* Trial Tr. at 198:4–9 (R. 267). White, however, proposed an assignment and assumption that permitted Brooktenn to assume occupancy of Unit 55 and operate a GAC store upon payment of only \$20,000.00. *See* Trial Tr. at 45:6–14, 48:17–22, and 191:6–19 (R. 114, 117 and 260); Pl.’s Trial Ex. 8 at p.2 (R. 367). Several days before sending this draft assignment and assumption, White told Branco that Hull Storey’s real estate committee had approved this proposal, and, consistent with the document he subsequently sent, “Stewart’s deal has been approved *if we can determine a way to come up with 20,000.*” *See* Trial Tr. at 195:1–25 (R. 264) (emphasis added); Pl.’s Trial Ex. 5 at 2 (R. 361).

Both Branco and Brooktenn rejected Hull Storey’s and Sumter Mall’s proposal requiring payment of \$20,000.00 for Brooktenn to assume occupancy of Unit 55 and operate a GAC store there. *See* Compl. at ¶ 10 (R. 22); Trial Tr. at 87:25 and 88:1–11 (R. 156–57); Pl.’s Trial Ex. 12 (R. 378). Neither Branco nor Brooktenn made any sort of counteroffer regarding the issue of Brooktenn taking over Branco’s space, *see* Trial Tr. at 192:15–23 (R. 261), and Brooktenn never entered *any* lease agreement with Sumter Mall and/or Hull Storey as required by the Proposal for

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