THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
OCT 26 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2017-000998
Civil Action No. 2015-CP-43-596

Paul Branco and Branco Investments, Inc.,
d/b/a Great American Cookie Co., Respondents,

v.

Hull Storey Retail Group, LLC, and
Sumter Mall, LLC, Appellants.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS PAUL BRANCO AND
BRANCO INVESTMENTS, INC., D/B/A GREAT AMERICAN COOKIE CO.**

John S. Simmons #10260
Simmons Law Firm, LLC
1711 Pickens Street
Columbia, SC 29201
Tel: (803) 779-4600

Patrick M. Killen # 15531
McGowan, Hood & Felder, LLC
1 Law Range, Suite B

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

ARGUMENT

There are two reasons this Court should affirm the trial court’s judgment.

First, none of the issues raised by Appellants are preserved.

Second, each of the issues raised by Appellants are substantively without merit for the following reasons: (1) Branco entered a valid contract with Brooktenn; (2) Appellants – specifically Hull Storey – interfered with that contract for an improper purpose and with actions constituting improper methods; (3) the trial court’s award of damages was supported by ample evidence; and (4) the parties at issue had the requisite capacity and the trial court properly entered judgment.

This Court should affirm.

I. The issues raised in Appellants’ appeal are unpreserved and the Court should dismiss the entire appeal on this ground alone.

As a threshold matter, each of Appellants’ four issues are unpreserved for appeal.

“Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate courts] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (citations omitted); *see also Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (holding that it is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.). In cases tried without a jury, an appellant waives the right to question on appeal the trial court’s denial of a Rule 41, SCRCP, motion when the appellant presents evidence after the initial denial of the motion and fails to renew the motion at the close of the case. *See Wallace v. Milliken & Co.*, 300 S.C. 553, 559, 389 S.E.2d 448, 451 (Ct. App. 1990). The Supreme Court of South Carolina has further explained that “the issue must be sufficiently clear to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the judge.” *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642.

At the close of Respondents’ case, Appellants’ counsel – who is not the counsel it has for its current appeal – did make a motion for a “directed verdict,” which is inapplicable to a matter

tried without a jury.³ (R. pp. 235-238). Assuming that this constituted a valid motion for non-suit under Rule 41, SCRCP, after the trial court denied the motion as to the tortious interference claim, Appellants' counsel called an additional witness for its case-in-chief - a leasing representative for Hull Storey. (R. p. 244). Appellants' counsel never made a further motion, nor did counsel make any effort to renew the "directed verdict" motion. (R. pp. 280-288). Thus, Appellants plainly presented evidence after the initial denial, failed to renew the motion at the close of the case, and thus have waived the right for this Court to review any and all arguments raised in the appeal at bar. See *Wallace*, 300 S.C. at 559, 389 S.E.2d at 451.

In addition to Appellants' blanket failure to preserve any issues at bar for appeal by way of its failure to renew its "directed verdict" motion, each of Appellants' arguments are unpreserved for additional reasons.⁴

³ This Court has explained the distinction as follows:

We note initially that while [appellant's] motion at the close of the evidence was couched as a "directed verdict" motion, governed by Rule 50, SCRCP, this was a non-jury action. As Rule 50 by its nature is applicable to jury trials, the proper motion for [appellant] to have made was a motion for involuntary non-suit under Rule 41, SCRCP. "After the plaintiff in an action tried by the court without a jury has completed the presentation of his evidence, the defendant, . . . may move for a dismissal on the ground that upon the facts and the law the plaintiff has shown no right to relief." Rule 41(b), SCRCP . . . Therefore, [appellant's] appeal is from the master's factual findings as a judge in a non-jury action at law. . . . Thus, this court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the master's findings.

Waterpointe I Prop. Owner's Ass'n, Inc. v. Paragon, Inc., 342 S.C. 454, 458-59, 536 S.E.2d 878, 880-81 (Ct. App. 2000).

⁴ It appears Appellants' former counsel attempted to lodge some of the arguments raised in this appeal in a purported Motion to Amend. (R. pp. 46-53). However, Appellants cannot use Rule 52(b), SCRCP, to present to the Court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not, and the issue preservation rules plainly required Appellants to raise the issue at the close of the case. See *Wilder Corp*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733, *Wallace*, 300 S.C. at 559, 389 S.E.2d at 451. Moreover, Rule 52(b) by its express terms does not permit the parties to make new legal arguments, such as Appellants' Statute of Frauds argument or their legal capacity

Appellants' first argument is that there was a contingency in the contract that "could be satisfied only by Brooktenn obtaining a written, executed lease agreement for the Sumter Mall property." (App. Br. at 13). This argument that the Statute of Frauds prohibits enforcement of the contract at issue is simply not an argument that was ever raised prior to judgment and thus this issue is not preserved.

Appellants' second argument is that it had a legitimate purpose and business interest in requesting payment from Brooktenn or Branco. (App. Br. at 24). However, the transcript is bereft of any preserved argument before the judge that a legitimate purpose and business interest existed. While Appellants cite to some portions of testimony in their Brief, there was no actual argument on this point presented to the trial court before judgment. In fact, it does not appear that the words or phrases "legitimate," "purpose," "business interest," and "justified" were ever spoken by Appellants' counsel during trial or closing arguments, and the word "justification" was mentioned once in reciting the elements of tortious inference but never revisited. (R. p. 236, line 18-p. 238, line 7). Appellants simply did not do enough to preserve this issue as it was never raised to the trial judge during the trial. *See Wilder Corp*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733.

Appellants' third argument, that the amount of damages was without evidentiary support, was not addressed by then-counsel for Appellants during the "directed verdict" argument. In fact, other than a few questions and a fleeting mention in closing, there was virtually no discussion that the damages may have been without evidentiary support, and that limited discussion is not enough from which the trial court could glean "the precise nature of the alleged error," leaving the argument unpreserved. *See Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642.

argument. *See* Rule 52(b), SCRPC. In any event, as has been thoroughly briefed by Respondents in their opposition to the previously filed Motion to Remand in this case, Appellants' purported Motion to Amend was a nullity.

Appellants' fourth and final argument that the trial court supposedly awarded damages to the wrong party was not raised in any capacity during the trial, before judgment, or in the post-trial motion in the case. (R. pp. 70-289; pp. 46-53). It is further worth noting that this allegedly problematic judgment was entered nearly a year and a half ago. (R. p. 387). Yet Appellants' Brief offers the first instance of this argument, and thus the trial court has had no opportunity to rule on this issue or provide this Court with any platform for meaningful review. *See Herron*, 395 S.C. at 465, 719 S.E.2d at 642.

For these additional reasons, Appellants' first, second, third, and fourth arguments are further precluded from appellate review. Appellants plainly ask this Court to disregard this State's issue preservation rules; however, Appellants' counsel are experienced appellate lawyers who are well-acquainted with issue preservation law. This Court and the Supreme Court of South Carolina frequently and stringently apply issue preservation rules in cases every day, even those involving important constitutional issues and substantial civil verdicts. *See State v. Stone*, 376 S.C. 32, 36, 655 S.E.2d 487, 488-89 (2007) (finding a victim impact evidence issue unpreserved in a capital case); *see also State ex rel. Wilson v. Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharm., Inc.*, 414 S.C. 33, 777 S.E.2d 176 (2015) (finding countless issues unpreserved in a civil case involving a \$327,073,700 award of civil penalties). That is so, of course, because "the validity of a doctrine does not depend on whose ox it goes." *Wells v. Simonds Abrasive Co.*, 345 U.S. 514, 525 (1953).

Nonetheless, if this Court were to overlook Appellants' failure with regard to preservation, it should nonetheless affirm the trial court's order.

II. There is a cornucopia of evidence in the record to support the trial court's ruling that a valid contract existed between Branco and Brooktenn.

There is ample evidence in the record to support the trial court's finding that Branco entered into a contract with Brooktenn. Specifically, the trial court correctly ruled that Branco had a valid

contract with Brooktenn for the sale of its assets, namely the Asset Purchase Agreement. (R. p. 359). Appellants' arguments to the contrary are without merit.

Under South Carolina law, “an agreement between two or more persons upon sufficient consideration to either do or not do a particular act is a contract.” *McPeters v. Yeargin Const. Co.*, 290 S.C. 327, 331, 350 S.E.2d 208, 210–11 (Ct. App. 1986) “Mutual promises . . . constitute a good consideration.” *Baugh v. Columbia Heart Clinic, P.A.*, 402 S.C. 1, 19, 738 S.E.2d 480, 490 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting *Evatt v. Campbell*, 234 S.C. 1, 8, 106 S.E.2d 447, 451 (1959)). *See also Edens v. Laurel Hill, Inc.*, 271 S.C. 360, 247 S.E.2d 434 (1978) (holding that in order for a contract to be binding, “there must be a mutual manifestation of assent” between the parties as to the terms of the contract”).

A. The record shows that any supposed contingency in the contract was satisfied.

Even if Appellants are correct that the Asset Purchase Agreement can be read as having any contingency, there is abundant evidence that any such contingency was satisfied. In the written memorialization of the agreement,⁵ which was drafted by two non-lawyers, Brooktenn agreed to

⁵ In a footnote, Appellants argue that the Asset Purchase Agreement contained a second contingency, namely a second agreement regarding the purchase of certain assets relating to Branco's location in Florence. (*See* App. Br. at 12 n.9). This argument is unavailing. First, for the reasons discussed herein, this argument was unpreserved and the Asset Purchase Agreement was a valid contract between Branco and Brooktenn regarding the sale of Branco's assets in Sumter. Second, Applebaum squarely testified that the agreement relating to the Sumter location was “not at all” contingent, and “independent” of what occurred regarding the Florence location. (R. p. 178, lines 4-12). Third, even if this were two provisions of a single contract, the provision relating to the Florence location is separate and discrete from the provision relating to the Sumter location. (R. p. 359). Thus, on the plain face of the agreement, and as supported by the testimony in the case, to the extent the provision relating to Florence is problematic, it is severable. “A severable contract is one in its nature and purpose susceptible of division and apportionment, having two or more parts The entirety or severability of a contract depends primarily upon the intent of the parties rather than upon the divisibility of the subject, although the latter aids in determining the intention.” *Columbia Architectural Group, Inc. v. Barker*, 274 S.C. 639, 641, 266 S.E.2d 428, 429 (1980) (quoting *Packard & Field v. Byrd*, 73 S.C. 1, 6, 51 S.E. 678, 679 (1905)). If the

purchase Branco's equipment in Sumter. (R. p. 359). This document also noted that Brooktenn would "get[]" a satisfactory lease from Hull Storey. (R. p. 359). In spite of Appellants' argument that this never occurred, the trial court properly found that "Hull Storey approved Brooktenn's lease application" (R. p. 2). Applebaum, in testimony the trial court found credible and upon which it heavily relied, explained as follows:

A: . . . We already had approval of the lease. They already told us that we had a lease.

...

Q: But you were approved for the lease, and then after the approval came the claim for the 20,000-dollars?

A: That's correct.

Q: All right. At no time during your conversations with the defendant about your lease application did they mention to you a lease assignment fee?

A: Never.

(R. p. 155, lines 4-5, 13-20; pp. 54-69). Applebaum further explained that as far as he was concerned, there was never a discussion about taking an assignment of Branco's lease because of the lease that he had with Hull Storey:

Q: Did they tell you at that time it was about a lease assignment, that you were taking Paul's lease?

A: First of all, they knew I wasn't taking Paul's lease because I had a new lease. We already had discussed it and that was in place.

(R. p. 157, lines 14-18). It is logical that the Court found this testimony credible, as Applebaum was the only witness to testify who had no pecuniary interest – personally or through his company – in the outcome of this trial. This testimony was further bolstered by texts to Branco directly

record in the case supports any proposition, it is that the Florence agreement was a separate agreement and Appellants' tortious interference caused the breach of a second contract.

which explained the lease had been approved. (R. pp. 360-362). As additional evidence that there was a contract at issue in this case, in its Answer to the tortious interference allegation in Plaintiff's Complaint that a valid contract existed, Appellants each responded, "[u]pon information and belief, [Branco] . . . entered into a contract with Brooktenn" (R. p. 30; 37).⁶

As noted by the trial court, it was only after Hull Storey approved the lease – and thus satisfied any applicable conditions in the Asset Purchase Agreement – that it wrongly demanded funds from Brooktenn to which it was not entitled and effectively killed Branco's contract with Applebaum. (R. pp. 2-3; pp. 54-69).

Appellants spend much of their argument in what amounts to a misdirection: Appellants claim that because there was no signed lease in the record, the Statute of Frauds precludes enforcement of the contract at issue. In addition to this argument being unpreserved as discussed above, it also misunderstands the nature of the contract at issue here. The Asset Purchase Agreement simply does not run afoul of the Statute of Frauds.⁷ Branco is not seeking damages for the breach of a lease between Brooktenn and Hull Storey, nor is Branco seeking damages for a tortious interference of a lease agreement between Brooktenn and Hull Storey. Branco is seeking damages for a tortious interference with the Asset Purchase Agreement between Branco and Brooktenn, which

⁶ Respondents would argue that the admission in Appellants' Answers provide an additional sustaining ground to affirm the trial court's decision as the admissions alone would be enough evidence for the trial court to determine a contract between Branco and Brooktenn existed.

⁷ As noted previously, Appellants did not properly preserve their Statute of Frauds argument. In any event, their argument speaks only to the lease and not the Asset Purchase Agreement. There is no allegation that the Asset Purchase Agreement itself fails under the Statute of Frauds. Assuming, *arguendo*, that the Statute of Frauds applies to the Asset Purchase Agreement, it was plainly a signed writing sufficient to indicate a contract for sale as it amounted to a written memorialization of the parties' agreement. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-201(1). (R. pp. 360-362). Additionally, even under the Statute of Frauds the trial court was free to look to the understanding of the parties to the agreement. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-201(1) ("A writing is not insufficient because it omits or incorrectly states a term agreed upon . . .").

for the reasons discussed herein, and as stated in the trial court's well-supported finding, constituted a valid contract.

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